NO. 66709-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DEC 28 2011

Respondent,

V.

SALVADOR A. CRUZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE

STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Douglas A. North, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREW P. ZINNER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by denying Salvador A. Cruz's motion for mistrial after the jury learned a woman who climbed onto the roof of the downtown Seattle King County courthouse was related to Cruz's case.
- 2. The trial court erred by admitting evidence of alleged child sexual abuse under RCW 10.58.090.
- 3. The trial court erred by admitting evidence of alleged child sexual abuse under ER 404(b).
- 4. The trial court's jury instruction pertaining to RCW 10.58.090 was an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.
- 5. The trial court's jury instruction pertaining to RCW 10.58.090 unfairly misled the jury.
- 6. RCW 10.58.090 violates State and federal constitutional provisions providing for the separation of powers, protecting against ex post facto legislation, and protecting the due process right to a fair trial.¹

In <u>State v. Scherner</u>, 153 Wn. App. 621, 225 P.3d 248 (2009) and <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 153 Wn. App. 659, 223 P.3d 1194 (2009), this Court upheld RCW 10.58.090 against the constitutional challenges discussed in this brief. The Washington Supreme Court granted review, which is pending. To preserve these issues in the event of a change in the law, Cruz raises these constitutional challenges.

- 7. The trial court erred by admitting evidence under the "child hearsay exception" set forth in RCW 9.94A.120.
- 8. The trial court exceeded its statutory sentencing authority by ordering Cruz to pay a \$100 DNA collection fee.
- 9. The trial court exceeded its statutory sentencing authority by imposing an improper community custody condition.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the trial court err by denying Cruz's motion for mistrial after the jury learned a woman who climbed onto the roof of the downtown Seattle King County courthouse during Cruz's trial was related to Cruz's case?
- 2. RCW 10.58.090 permits evidence of prior sex offenses if the court deems the probative value outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice and sets forth seven mandatory factors the court must consider. ER 404(b) permits evidence of other bad acts to show, among other things, they were part of a common scheme or plan with the charged offense.
- a. Did the trial court err by failing to consider "[w]hether the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice," as required by RCW 10.58.090(6)(g)?

- b. Did the trial court err by finding the uncharged acts were substantially similar to those that gave rise to the charged crimes, as required to find they were part of a common scheme or plan under ER 404(b)?
- 3. In its instruction pertaining to the evidence admitted under RCW 10.58.090, the trial court used language indicating Cruz in fact committed the uncharged acts. Was the court's instruction an unconstitutional comment on the evidence?
- 4. Because of the trial court's admission of evidence under RCW 10.58.090, the jury heard testimony that Cruz raped one young girl and molested another. The State had charged Cruz with first degree child rape and first degree molestation, but Cruz pleaded guilty to the lesser offense of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes (CMIP). Jurors were not informed of this fact. Yet the trial court's RCW 10.58.090 instruction referred to the uncharged acts as "sexual assault or child molestation." Was the court's instruction unfairly misleading?
- 5. Under the separation of powers doctrine, when a statute conflicts with a court rule governing courtroom procedure, the court rule takes precedence. Does RCW 10.58.090 violate the separation of powers doctrine because it directly conflicts with ER 404(b)?

- 6. A substantive change in the law violates the ex post facto clause when it is applied retroactively to disadvantage the defendant. RCW 10.58.090 permits the State to fill gaps in its proof relating to the crime charged by persuading the trier of fact with evidence of criminal character or propensity. Does RCW 10.58.090 violate State and federal ex post facto provisions because it is a retroactive change in the law that effectively lessens the State's burden of proof?
- 7. Washington's ex post facto clause was modeled after Oregon's, which has been interpreted as providing greater protection than the federal provision in protecting against changes in the law that one-sidedly give advantage to the State over accused persons. Does Washington's constitution provide similarly greater protection and does RCW 10.58.090 violate Washington's ex post facto clause?
- 8. Washington's constitutional right to a jury trial encompasses the right as it was understood at the time of adoption. At that time, evidence used to infer guilt based on criminal character or propensity was generally banned as unfair. In permitting such evidence and inference, does RCW 10.58.090 violate Washington's due process right to a fair trial?

- 9. Did the trial court err by admitting hearsay testimony under the "child hearsay statute," RCW 9A.44.120, without first thoroughly considering the well-established factors for determining admissibility of such testimony.
- 10. Did the trial court exceed its statutory sentencing authority by ordering Cruz to lay a \$100 DNA collection fee when each offense occurred well before the effective date of the DNA collection fee provision?
- 11. Did the trial court exceed its statutory sentencing authority by imposing a community custody condition that was not reasonably crime-related?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Overview

Based on a series of disclosures made by several young girls in 1997 and 1998, the King County Prosecutor charged Salvador A. Cruz with two counts each of first degree child rape against B.B. and J.C., two counts of third degree child rape against K.O., two counts of first degree child molestation against D.G., and one count of CMIP with O.J. CP 146-

52.² The overall charging period was November 1, 1993, to March 1, 1998. Id.

Cruz chose to represent himself at trial, and was aided by standby counsel. CP 34. With the assistance of Spanish language interpreters, Cruz argued all motions and examined each witness. The jury ultimately found Cruz guilty of all remaining charges. CP 194-200.

2. <u>Pretrial hearing – child hearsay</u>

The State moved pretrial for the admission of out-of-court statements made by F.P., A.B. and J.C. under RCW 9.94A.120. CP ___ (sub. no. 149, State's Trial Memorandum, at 26-35, filed 10/27/2010); 4RP 84-90.³ The statements were made to social worker Gail Backer by F.P. and A.B. during sexual assault counseling sessions, Bellevue Police Detective Robert Thompson by all three girls, and Carolyn Strange, with whom J.C. lived for awhile. CP __, sub. no. 149, at 29-31.

² As described in greater detail below, the State dismissed the two counts naming D.G. as the complainant after she climbed outside onto the roof of the downtown Seattle King County courthouse. 8RP 4-7.

³ The verbatim report of proceedings is cited to as follows: 1RP (6/18, 6/29, 7/7, 7/29, 8/26, 9/10, 9/17, 9/24, 10/1, 10/28, 11/1, 11/2, 12/1, 12/2, 12/6, 12/7, 12/8, 1/21/2011); 2RP (10/8, 10/22, 1/14/2011, 2/16/2011); 3RP (10/25); 4RP (10/26); 5RP (10/27); 6RP (11/3); 7RP (11/4); 8RP (11/8); 9RP (11/9); 10RP (11/10); 11RP (11/15); 12RP (11/16); 13RP (11/17); 14RP (11/18); 15RP (11/19, 11/22); 16RP (11/29); 17RP (11/30).

Both Backer and Thompson testified during a pretrial hearing.

4RP 26. F.P. told Backer that Cruz often touched her "private" and "boobies" underneath her clothes, had her touch his "private," and sometimes put his "private" in her "butt." 4RP 19-20, 32. These events usually occurred in the garage of her family's residence, when she was seven and eight years old. 4RP 19-21, 26. After the first improper touching incident, Cruz told F.P. he would kill her if she ever reported the abuse. 4RP 20.

A.B. told Backer that Cruz touched her "private" one time on the outside of her clothing. 4RP 24, 35.

Thompson testified he met with F.P. and A.B. at their home. 4RP 51-52. As she had told Backer, F.P. disclosed that Thompson touched her vaginal area and "boobies" under her clothes, inserted his finger into her vagina, and "put his private in her back private " 4RP 53-57, 61-62. The incidents happened "lots and lots of times." 4RP 62.

A.B. disclosed to Thompson that Cruz touched vaginal area outside her underwear. 4RP 58.

Thompson later interviewed nine-year-old J.C. at Strange's home after he learned Cruz lived with the child. 4RP 63-64, 82-84. J.C. said

Cruz touched her in a bad way. 4RP 65. Thompson ended the interview because it was clear J.C. did not want to speak with him. 4RP 65.

The trial court found the hearsay testimony admissible under RCW 9.94A.120 because F.P. and A.B. made consistent statements to both Backer and Thompson and there was no indication any of the three girls has problems telling the truth or had a motive to lie. 4RP 92-93.

3. Trial -- Residence history

Cruz and Veronica Cabral lived together with Cabral's daughters, J.C. and D.G., at a Redmond YMCA apartment beginning in November 1993. 1RP 541-43. They stayed there 18 months. 1RP 545.

During their stay at the YMCA, they befriended a neighbor, Beverly Pennington, who had two daughters, F.P. and A.B., as well as a young son. 1RP 546. The girls played together at both Cabral's and Pennington's apartments. 1RP 546-47. Cabral had no concerns about Cruz being around her daughters at bedtime, trusted him with them, and left him alone with them. 1RP 547-48.

After their respective stays at the YMCA, Cabral and her family moved into a Redmond apartment and Pennington into a house in Bellevue. Cruz, Cabral, and the girls visited Pennington about two or three times a week. 1RP 550-51. During this time, Cabral began working

every day at a Fall City daycare facility operated by Carolyn Strange, whom she met through Pennington. 1RP 551-53, 10RP 119-21. J.C. went to school in Redmond, and Cruz used to pick her up after school and drive her to Fall City. 1RP 553-54.

Cabral, her kids, and Cruz moved in with Pennington after staying about six months in the Redmond apartment. 1RP 550, 558. They stayed with Pennington about two months. 1RP8 34-35. Then, in December 1996, they moved into Strange's Fall City home. 1RP8 34-36.

4. <u>Allegations of sisters F.P. and A.B.</u>⁴

F.P. recalled that Cruz lived at her mother's home with Cabral, J.C. and D.G., but said they were there for one to two years. 1RP 373-76. Over the course of time, according to F.P., Cruz touched her chest, digitally penetrated her vagina, licked her vagina, had anal intercourse, and had her touch his penis. 1RP 382-87. Activities of this type happened "[m]ultiple, multiple times." 1RP 388, 390. F.P. said she was "[s]ix, seven, eight years old" when the incidents occurred. RP1 389-90.

⁴ The trial court admitted the testimony of F.P. and A.B., who were not named complainants, under RCW 10.58.090 and ER 404(b). RP1 123-29 (RCW 10.58.090), RP1 924-30 (ER 404(b)). As the result of the allegations, Cruz pleaded guilty in October 1997 to the lesser offense of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 254; 1RP 348-49.

F.P.'s sister, A.B., recalled two incidents involving Cruz. She and Cruz were sitting next to each other on a couch when Cruz reached under her skirt and touched her vagina over her underwear. 10RP 58-59. The second time, Cruz was playing with the children. He flipped A.B. over his shoulder and instead of grabbing her by the waist, he grabbed her in her crotch area. 10RP 60. Cruz told her he would hurt her if she reported the incidents, so she remained quiet for awhile. 10RP 59-61.

F.P. eventually disclosed some of the incidents to A.B., but never to her mother because of Cruz's threats to kill her and hurt her family members. RP1 388-92; 10RP 60. The girls did not disclose the abuse until February 1997, when F.P. was eight years old and A.B. was nine. 1RP 272-77, 392-93, 440, 459, 10RP 61, 12RP 64.

Detective Thompson interviewed F.P. and A.B. in February, then arrested Cruz. 1RP 278-86. Thompson and sexual assault counselor Gail Backer recounted statements made to them by both girls during the trial. 1RP 278-84 (Thompson); 1RP 492-95, 497-503, 506-27 (Backer).

5. Allegations of J.C.

J.C. said Cruz was her mother's boyfriend and lived with the family. 9RP 65. When they lived in the Redmond apartment, Cruz picked her up from school. 9RP 71-72, 90. J.C. testified Cruz used to pull her

pants down and lick her vagina. 9RP 72-73. Cruz also touched her vagina "all the time." 9RP 73-74. He also penetrated her anus with his penis "[m]any times" over the course of three years. 9RP 80-82, 106-07.

J.C. did not tell anyone about the abuse for a long time because Cruz said he would kill her and her family. She believed him, because he once held a silver gun to her head and another time ripped a phone book in half in front of the kids. 9RP 83-84, 10RP 6-7. She finally "broke down" and said "yes" in June 1997 when her "grandma" (Ms. Strange) asked her if Cruz touched her. 8RP 102-04, 110-13, 119-25; 9RP 84, 108; 10RP 132-35.

6. Allegations of sisters K.O. and B.B., and friend O.J.

Renee Beck had two daughters, K.O. and B.B. 13RP 63-64. In May 1997, at the age of 13, K.O. gave birth to twins. 13RP 67-68, 14RP 82-83.

K.O. met Cruz in September or October 1997, after she turned 14. 14 RP 83-87. K.O. lied about her age and told Cruz she was 16 when she had her twins. 14RP 91, 16RP 55, 58-59, 62. She began having sex with Cruz about two weeks after they met. 15 RP 85-86. K.O. willingly continued having sex with Cruz a few times a week into February 1998. 14RP 100-03.

K.O. brought Cruz home to meet her family in December 1997. 14RP 87-89, 100. K.O. admitted she lied to Beck when she said she met Cruz "at church." 13RP 72; 14RP 87. Cruz told Beck he was 19 years old. 13RP 71-74. Beck said she thought K.O. and Cruz "were just friends." 13RP 76. She said K.O. was "very mature" for her age and called her "a proper young lady." 14RP 47, 53.

B.B. was nine years old when K.O. gave birth. 1RP 575-76. She met Cruz through K.O., who introduced him as her boyfriend. 1RP 582-83, 614-15. Cruz eventually took her pants and underwear off and licked her vagina. 1RP 586-87. He also reached between her legs and rubbed her, both over and under her clothes. 1RP 589-90, 594-95. B.B. did not disclose these incidents because Cruz said she would get in trouble with her parents. 1RP 594.

The incidents continued into 1998. Cruz sometimes touched B.B.'s breasts. 1RP 595. One time in the hot tub in their yard, Cruz dove under the water, pushed her bathing suit aside, and licked her vagina. 1RP 595-96, 790-98. At times Cruz placed B.B.'s hand on his penis and made her rub it. RP 596-97. At least once he pushed her head down so she could put her mouth on his penis, but she resisted. RP 597-99. Another time

Cruz tried to penetrate her vagina with his penis but was not successful.

1RP 600-01, 669-677, 706-12, 722, 725-30.5

On February 8, 1998, Beck had a birthday party for B.B. at her home. 13RP 77-78, 14RP 103-04. One of B.B.'s friends, O.J., attended the party. She was 11 years old. 13 RP 4. Cruz was also at the party. 13RP 8-10, 78-79, 14RP 103-04. At one point, O.J. went into the basement and found herself alone with Cruz. 13RP 11-13. Cruz smelled her neck and kissed her on her mouth. 13RP 14, 22-24.

O.J. felt "[v]ery strange," but did not tell anyone at the party about the incident. 13RP 14-15. Instead, she told a school counselor or her mother a day or two later. 13RP 15-16.⁶ O.J.'s mother confronted Beck with this accusation. Beck, in turn, called K.O. and notified her. 13RP

⁵ A physician who examined B.B. on May 14, 1998, testified B.B., who was 10-years-old at the time, disclosed that a man stuck his fingers inside her vagina several times and once "sprayed white stuff all over her while she was sleeping." 6RP 10-14. She denied penile/vaginal penetration. B.B. said the man told her he would beat her up if she disclosed the incident. 6RP 14.

A nurse practitioner at the Harborview Sexual Assault Center examined B.B. May 20, 1998. 11RP 6, 16. B.B. told her Cruz touched her on her "privates" atop and under her clothing. 11RP 26-27.

⁶ O.J.'s counselor testified the girl told her on February 9, 1998, that Cruz put his tongue in her mouth and inappropriately touched her during a birthday party the previous weekend. 12RP 86-94. The counselor called Child Protective Services as well as O.J.'s mother. 12RP 91-92, 103-06.

15-16, 79-81, 100-01, 14RP 104-06, 16RP 21-22. K.O., who was at a store with Cruz at the time, discussed the matter with him on the way back to K.O.'s house. Neither K.O. nor her mother saw him again. 13RP 81, 14RP 62-63, 106.

B.B. recalled that at some point, Cruz stopped coming around. 1RP 604. She and K.O. denied anything had happened, but finally told their mother in May 1998 that Cruz molested them. 1RP 604-05, 13RP 82-85, 111-13, 14RP 9-10, 20, 109-10. B.B. disclosed how Cruz touched her and other things he had done to her while she was sleeping in her bedroom. 14RP 10. Specifically, B.B. alleged that Cruz put his fingers inside her vagina, "shot white stuff" over her body and face, and touched her breasts. 14RP 13. K.O. told her mother Cruz "forced himself" on her. 14RP 46, 60.

7. <u>Courthouse rooftop incident</u>

Five days after trial testimony began, alleged victim D.G. climbed out onto the roof of the downtown Seattle King County courthouse and threatened to commit suicide during a lunch recess. Police and negotiators responded, which caused a commotion around the courthouse. 7RP 64-66. The trial court learned that several jurors saw on their cell phones that there was an incident relating to Cruz's case at the courthouse. The court

called the jurors out and admonished them to make a special effort to shield themselves from any information about the incident. 7RP 66-68.

In response to the court's call for questions, the following exchange occurred:

Juror: Just a comment. We knew that there was an incident at the courthouse, but we did not know it was related to this case.

The Court: Okay. Yeah, well, it doesn't have any real bearing on the merits of the case, but it's certainly something that, you know, people might in some way relate to the case.

7RP 68. During this proceeding, the prosecutor and Cruz's standby counsel were on the courtroom speakerphone. 7RP 66-68. Cruz was not present. 8RP 8-9. As the jurors went home for the day, the court admonished them to refrain from speaking with anyone on the streets around the courthouse. 7RP 70.

When proceedings reconvened the following Monday, the prosecutor suggested the court question each juror individually to determine what he or she knew about the rooftop incident. 8RP 3-4. The trial court agreed. 8RP 5, 7. Cruz objected, asking how the court could even consider continuing with the same jury. He said, "I don't want to continue, your Honor, with the same jury." 8RP 7-9. Cruz moved for a

mistrial. 8RP 12. The court found the case law required it to voir dire the jurors. 8RP 9-10.

Juror 1 said she learned nothing new over the weekend, but had already known by then that "there was an issue with someone on the roof and that that's what was being held up[.]" 8RP 17-18, 20.7

Juror 2 said someone checked a cell phone while everyone was in the jury room and found out "there was someone on the roof, and people outside saw the tape outside and that was about it. And we all came and talked in here, and that was the first that I had heard that it could be pertaining to our case." 8RP 22-23.

Juror 3 said he had heard someone was on the roof during the previous court day, but learned nothing new over the weekend. 8RP 26-27.

Juror 4 said during the previous court day she looked out the window and saw police tape. Someone with a laptop in the jury room said "there was an incident that had occurred." 8RP 29-30. She learned nothing more about the incident over the weekend.

⁷ Only jurors 9 and 10 were specifically identified by number. 8RP 48. Counsel assigned the other jurors numbers to correspond with the order in which they were individually called into the courtroom for questioning.

Juror 5 also learned nothing from anyone outside the courthouse. When she left, she knew there was someone on top of the building. 8RP 33. The person had brown hair, was skinny, and wore jeans. 8RP 34. Juror 5 also saw yellow tape and commotion when she looked out the window. 8RP 33-34. When the judge instructed the jury to stay away from the media, she "kind of assumed it was related to our trial." 8RP 33.

Juror 6 said some of the jurors were working on a puzzle in the jury room when someone with a computer said "there was something going on outside, but it seemed irrelevant so we just went on with what we were doing." 8RP 36. She learned nothing else about the matter. 8RP 36-38.

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