NO. 66709-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SALVADOR ALEMAN CRUZ,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE DOUGLASS NORTH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Here, the defendant preyed upon young girls of the same age, with the exception of KO, who was just a few years older than the other five girls the defendant assaulted. He threatened physical harm or death to each of the girls, with the exception of OJ, who he only saw and molested on a single occasion. While he did not initially threaten KO, as they had consensual sexual intercourse, as soon as he realized his conduct could be discovered, he threatened her with death just like he did with his other victims.

The defendant also seems to have intentionally placed himself in situations where he had ready access to young girls. He abused them in many similar ways--having them touch him, fondling them--all the while telling them that if they disclosed the abuse he would hurt or kill them and/or their families. The defendant did not try and groom his victims, he intimidated them and used their young age against them. Moreover, the defendant was consistent in that he did not abuse the girls only when he

was left home alone with them. To the contrary, part of his *modus* operandi appears to be that he would abuse the girls while others were close by.

In the case at bar, there are sufficient similarities wherein a reasonable person could find that the defendant used a common plan to meet and sexually assault young girls. The trial court complied with the criteria enunciated by our Supreme Court in Lough and DeVincentis and this determination must be upheld. After all, the decision to admit prior bad act evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). While reasonable minds might disagree with the trial court's evidentiary ruling, that is not the standard. State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 264, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004). To prevail on appeal, the defendant must prove that no reasonable person would have taken the position adopted by the trial court. State v. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d 30, 42, 653 P.2d 284 (1982). The defendant has not met this burden.

c. Any Error In Admitting The Evidence Was Harmless.

Even assuming the defendant can meet his burden of proving the trial court abused its discretion, reversal is not required if the error is harmless. Error under ER 404(b) is not of constitutional magnitude and

therefore, to prevail, the defendant must prove that, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of trial would have been different but for the error. State v. Thamert, 45 Wn. App. 143, 151, 723 P.2d 1204, rev. denied, 107 Wn.2d 1014 (1986). To determine the probable outcome, the appellate court must focus on the evidence that remains after excluding the tainted evidence. Thamert, 45 Wn. App. at 151.

The evidence that remains consists of four young girls with no motive to lie when they first disclosed that they had been abused, and no motive to lie 10 years later when they were willing to testify at trial after the defendant was finally apprehended. Evidence of flight is strong evidence tending to show guilt. State v. Bruton, 66 Wn.2d 111, 112, 401 P.2d 340 (1965). Moreover, it is one thing to be able to argue as to the credibility of a single victim, that the victim has a motive to lie, but it is quite another to argue that all four of these victims were lying, that all four of them were acting in concert to convict the defendant—a man they have not seen in over ten years. The evidence in this case was overwhelming. The defendant cannot show there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different if the evidence pertaining to AB and FP had not been admitted.

d. The Jury Instruction Pertaining To Prior Offenses Or Acts Of Sexual Abuse Was Not A Comment On The Evidence.

The court gave the following limiting instruction to the jury:

In a criminal case in which the defendant is accused of an offense of sexual assault or child molestation, evidence of the defendant's commission of another offense or offenses of sexual assault or child molestation is admissible and may be considered for its bearing on any matter to which it is relevant.

However, evidence of a prior offense on its own is not sufficient to prove the defendant guilty of the crime charged in the Information. Bear in mind as you consider this evidence at all times, the State has the burden of proving that the defendant committed each of the elements of the offense charged in the Information. I remind you that the defendant is not on trial for any act, conduct, or offense not charged in the information.

CP 162 (Instruction 7).7

The defendant claims that this instruction conveyed to the jury the judge's personal belief that the defendant had committed prior acts of sexual assault or child molestation against FP and AB.⁸ Therefore, the defendant claims, because the judge impermissibly expressed his personal beliefs to the jury, all of his convictions must be reversed. This claim

⁷ This instruction is similar to later enacted WPIC 5.40, an instruction approved of in <u>United States v. Benally</u>, 500 F.3d 1085, (10th Cir. 2007). <u>See</u> 11 WAPRAC WPIC 5.40 (February 1, 2010). A more standard 404(b) limiting instruction, such as WPIC 5.30, was not requested by the defendant. A trial court is not required to give a limiting instruction for ER 404(b) evidence absent a request for such an instruction. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 171 Wn.2d 118, 123-24, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

⁸ The defendant did not object to the giving of this instruction. 22RP 885-86. However, the Supreme Court has ruled that a claim that a jury instruction

should be rejected. Read as a whole and in a common sense manner as required, the instructions conveyed to the jury that in child sexual assault cases, evidence of other child sexual abuse is admissible, and that it is the jury's duty to determine the facts, herein, whether the defendant actually committed prior acts of sexual assault or child molestation.

Under article IV, section 16, a judge is prohibited from commenting on the evidence presented at trial. This prohibition is intended to prevent a trial judge from influencing a jury by interjecting his or her personal opinion about the evidence. State v. Lampshire, 74 Wn.2d 888, 892, 447 P.2d 727 (1968). To constitute a comment on the evidence, it must readily appear that the court's attitude toward the merits of the cause is reasonably inferable from the nature or manner of the questions asked and the things said. Cerny, 78 Wn.2d at 855-56 (citing State v. Brown, 31 Wn.2d 475, 197 P.2d 590 (1948)). The touchstone of error is whether the feelings of the trial court as to the truth-value of the testimony of a witness has actually been communicated to the jury. State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838-39, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). Whether certain words amount to an impermissible comment on the evidence is determined by

-

constitutes a comment on the evidence may be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719-20, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006).

⁹ "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const. art. IV, § 16.

looking at the particular circumstances of the case. <u>State v. Knapp</u>, 14 Wn. App. 101, 113, 540 P.2d 898, <u>rev. denied</u>, 86 Wn.2d 1005 (1975) (citing <u>State v. Jacobsen</u>, 78 Wn.2d 491, 477 P.2d 1 (1970)).

When it comes to jury instructions, the instructions must be read in a straightforward and commonsense manner. State v. Pittman, 134 Wn. App. 376, 383, 166 P.3d 720 (2006), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). A court will not assume a strained reading of an instruction. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 394, 177 P.3d 776, rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1035 (2008). Rather, instructions are sufficient if they are readily understood and not misleading to the ordinary mind. State v. Meneses, 169 Wn.2d 586, 592, 238 P.3d 495 (2010). Instructions are viewed as a whole. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

Here, along with the instruction cited above, the court also provided the following directive to the jury:

It is your duty to decide the facts in this case based upon the evidence presented to you during this trial... Your decisions as jurors must be made solely upon the evidence presented during these proceedings.

.

Our state constitution prohibits a trial judge from making a comment on the evidence. It would be improper for me to express, by words or conduct, my personal opinion about the value of testimony or other evidence. I have not intentionally done this. *If it appeared to you that I have indicated my*

personal opinion in any way, either during the trial or in giving these instructions, you must disregard that apparent comment entirely.

CP 154, 156 (Instruction 1, emphasis added).

Instruction 7 is a generic instruction similar to other limiting instructions. See WPIC 5.05, 10 WPIC 5.30, 11 WPIC 6.42. 12 The instruction simply refers to what type of "evidence" may be admissible in "a criminal case" involving allegation of sexual assault or child molestation. This is an accurate statement of the law. A statement that evidence regarding a particular fact or subject matter may be admitted at trial is not an opinion that the fact or subject matter is true, accurate or a proven fact.

The instruction herein is unlike the instructional situation that existed in <u>State v. Dewey</u>, 93 Wn. App. 50, 966 P.2d 414 (1998), overruled on other grounds by <u>DeVincentis</u>, <u>supra</u>, a case relied upon by the defendant. Dewey is a classic date-rape case. Dewey and his victim

[&]quot;You may consider evidence that the defendant has been convicted of a crime only in deciding what weight or credibility to give to the defendant's testimony, and for no other purpose." WPIC 5.05 Prior Conviction--Impeachment--Defendant.

[&]quot;Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. This [evidence consists of and] may be considered by you only for the purpose of _____. You may not consider it for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations must be consistent with this limitation." WPIC 5.30 Evidence Limited as to Purpose.

went out on a date, ended up back at his residence, wherein the victim claims she was raped and Dewey claims the two had consensual intercourse. The State introduced evidence that Dewey had done the same thing to another woman--A.N.R. In instructing the jury, the court did not give a generic limiting instruction like the court did here. Instead, the court instructed the jury that, "[e]vidence has been introduced in this case, on the subject of the rape of A.N.R. in June of 1994, for the limited purpose of showing..." Dewey, 93 Wn. App. at 58. This instruction was very specific and conclusionary, calling the acts committed against A.N.R. a rape even though that was an issue of the jury. That is not the situation here.

Read in a commonsense manner and in conjunction with instructions that told the jurors it was for them to determine the facts and that if the judge appeared to have commented on the evidence, the jurors were to ignore it, the defendant cannot show that the instruction was a comment on the evidence. Nor can he show it was prejudicial.

If a judge does impermissibly comment on the evidence, the error is harmless if "the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have

¹² "You may consider a statement made out of court by one defendant as evidence against that defendant, but not as evidence against another defendant." WPIC 6.42 Admissions or Incriminating Statement by Codefendant.

resulted." <u>Levy</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 725; <u>see also Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 423-25. See section 2(a) above for a factual harmless error analysis.

e. The Jury Instruction Pertaining To Prior Offenses Or Acts Of Sexual Abuse Was Not Misleading.

The defendant also contends that the same instruction, Instruction 7, was misleading. This argument must be rejected.

For the sexual assaults the defendant committed against AB and FP, the defendant was originally charged in 1997 with first-degree rape of a child and first-degree child molestation. CP 395. He pled guilty in 1997 to communicating with a minor for immoral purposes--reduced charges as part of a plea agreement. CP 254, 395. Now, for the first time on appeal, the defendant claims that Instruction 7 was misleading because it used the terms "sexual assault or child molestation" when it discussed evidence of prior acts. This argument is not well taken.

First, this claim has been waived. A claim that a jury instruction constitutes a comment on the evidence may be raised for the first time on appeal because it raises an issue of manifest constitutional error. <u>Levy</u>, 156 Wn.2d at 719-20.

However, as to other claims of error regarding jury instructions, the failure to object generally bars the issue from being raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Salas, 74 Wn. App. 400, 407, 873 P.2d 578

(1994), rev. on other grounds, 127 Wn.2d 544 (1995); RAP 2.5. The defendant did not object to instruction 7. 22RP 885-86. Thus, his claim that the instruction is misleading--a non-constitutional issue, is waived.

Second, the defendant claims that by using the terms "sexual assault or child molestation," the jury was necessarily misled into believing an untruth--that he committed one of those offenses, because the defendant actually pled guilty to a lesser offense of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. However, it was not the conviction that was introduced, it was evidence of the acts actually committed by the defendant. In this case, there is no question that the evidence supports that the defendant committed acts of sexual assault and child molestation against AB and FP. The fact that the defendant may have pled guilty to a lesser crime is of no moment and the instruction was not misleading.

3. THE DISCLOSURES OF FP AND AB WERE SUFFICIENTLY RELIABLE TO BE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE UNDER THE CHILD HEARSAY STATUTE, RCW 9A.44.120.

The defendant claims that the trial court erred in finding the statements of FP and AB sufficiently reliable to be admitted under the child hearsay statute, RCW 9A.44.120. In making his argument, the defendant does not appear to claim that the statements would not be admissible under the statute. Rather, he appears to claim that because the

court did not consider as many factors in determining admissibility as the defendant believes it should, the statements should not have been ruled admissible. This claim must be rejected. The trial court found what is required under the statute--that the time, content, and circumstances of the statements provided sufficient indicia of reliability. The defendant cannot show that no reasonable judge would have so ruled.¹³

To begin, it should be noted that it is not clear from the defendant's ramblings before the trial court whether he actually was objecting to the admission of the hearsay testimony. See 4RP 90-91. In fact, he appears to invite the court to admit the testimony because he wanted to show inconsistencies with later statements and testimony. Id.

The failure to object constitutes waiver. State v. Baxter, 68 Wn.2d 416, 424, 413 P.2d 638 (1966). Even when an objection is made, if it does not specify the particular ground upon which it is based, it is insufficient to preserve the question for appellate review. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1185 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). So to does the invited error doctrine prohibit a party from setting up an error at

¹³ It should be noted that it is not clear from the defendant's ramblings before the trial court whether he actually was objecting to the admission of the hearsay testimony. <u>See</u> 4RP 90-91. In fact, he appears to invite the court to admit the testimony because he wanted to then show inconsistencies with later statements and testimony. <u>Id.</u> While the defendant raises this issue, at trial he repeatedly elicited hearsay evidence from all of the State's witnesses.

trial and then complaining of it on appeal. State v. Pam, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984), overruled on other grounds by State v. Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995).

If the defendant's comments can be considered an objection at all, the objection certainly was not specific and certainly did not raise the issue he now raises on appeal. As such, this issue has been waived.¹⁴

In any event, hearsay statements of child victims of sexual abuse are conditionally admissible under RCW 9A.44.120. In pertinent part, the statute provides that:

A statement made by a child when under the age of ten describing any act of sexual contact performed with or on the child. . .is admissible. . .if...[t]he court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability.

RCW 9A.44.120.

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